ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

OCT 13 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Allendale County

J. Ernest Kinard, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MCKENZIE L. DAVIS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001550

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TIFFANY L. BUTLER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Whether the trial judge erred by denying defense counsel's motion to suppress Appellant's blood analysis results where Corporal Gates had no probable cause to arrest Appellant for felony driving under the influence, since there was no probable cause Appellant was the driver of the automobile and no probable cause Appellant was under the influence of alcohol?

II. Whether the trial judge erred by denying defense counsel's motion to suppress Appellant's blood analysis results where Corporal Gates was required to obtain a search warrant before taking Appellant's blood sample, since there were no exigent circumstances to justify the warrantless search and seizure?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 22, 2012, an Allendale County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for felony driving under the influence resulting in great bodily injury, felony driving under the influence resulting in death, child endangerment, and driving under suspension. R. 521 On July 8, 2014, Appellant's case proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable J. Ernest Kinard, Jr., and a jury. R. 1, July 8, 2014. Stephen T. Plexico represented Appellant. Assistant Attorney General Megan B. Burchstead and Assistant Attorney General David Fernandez represented the State. R. 2, July 8, 2014.

After a four-day trial, Appellant was found guilty of driving under the influence, a lesser-included offense of felony driving under the influence resulting in great bodily injury.¹ Appellant was also found guilty of driving under suspension. R. 508 – 509, July 10, 2014. Judge Kinard sentenced Appellant to thirty days' time served for the driving under suspension. Appellant was sentenced to one year imprisonment suspended to 165 days' time served, with two years of probation. R. 517-518, July 10, 2014.

Appellant appealed his conviction and sentence. This brief follows.

¹ Appellant was found not guilty of felony DUI resulting in death, not guilty of felony DUI resulting in great bodily injury, and not guilty of child endangerment. R. 508-509, July 10, 2014. Defense counsel stipulated that Appellant's license was suspended on the day of the accident. R. 9, July 8, 2014.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred by denying defense counsel's motion to suppress Appellant's blood analysis results where Corporal Gates had no probable cause to arrest Appellant for felony driving under the influence, since there was no probable cause Appellant was the driver of the automobile and no probable cause Appellant was under the influence of alcohol.

Motion to Suppress Appellant's Urine and Blood Test Results

According to S.C. Code Ann. Section 56-5-2946 (A),

“[n]otwithstanding any other provision of law, a person must submit to either one or a combination of chemical tests of his breath, blood, or urine for the purpose of determining the presence of alcohol, drugs, or a combination of alcohol and drugs if there is probable cause to believe that the person violated or is under arrest for a violation of Section 56-5-2945.”

Prior to trial, defense counsel moved to suppress Appellant's urine and blood tests administered pursuant to section 56-5-2946 (A), quoted above. R. 10, July 8, 2014. Counsel cited the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 10 of the S.C. Constitution and argued that there was no probable cause to arrest Appellant on the day of the car accident. R. 10, lines 16 – 17, July 8, 2014.

Counsel explained that there was no evidence that would justify the belief that Appellant was driving under the influence of alcohol except the fact that there was an automobile accident and Corporal Gates claimed he smelled alcohol on Appellant. R. 10, lines 17 – 21, July 8, 2014. Counsel explained that there was “none of the usual verbiage about glassy eyes, bloodshot eyes, or anything else.” R. 10, lines 21 – 23, July 8, 2014. Counsel contended that there were no facts given that would “justify the arrest, which [was] a prerequisite for the taking of the blood and urine.” R. 11, lines 10 – 13, July 8, 2014.

Defense counsel further argued that even if there was probable cause to arrest Appellant at the hospital, Corporal Gates should have obtained a search warrant to obtain Appellant's blood and urine samples pursuant to S.C. Code Section 17-13-140. R. 11, lines 14 – 18, July 8, 2014. Counsel asserted that there were no exigent circumstances to support the warrantless search and seizure. R. 11, lines 19 – 23, July 8, 2014. According to counsel, the magistrate lived within one mile of the hospital, however, the trooper made no effort to obtain a search warrant.² R. 12, lines 4 – 15, July 8, 2014.

The prosecutor argued that there was probable cause to arrest Appellant at the hospital. The prosecutor asserted that Corporal Gates' training and experience led him to believe that Appellant had been intoxicated at the time he was driving. Further, Corporal Gates believed that "there was exigency" due to the fact there had been an automobile accident involving a death and major injuries, and Appellant had changed his story "about whether he was driving or not driving." R. 20, line 21 – R. 21, line 11, July 8, 2014.

Pre-trial Testimony of Corporal Denard Theotricus Gates

Corporal Gates testified during the pre-trial hearing to suppress Appellant's blood and urine test results. Gates stated that he was "notified of the collision at 2:52 p.m." on November 1, 2008. R. 30, lines 1 – 25, July 8, 2014. When Gates arrived at the scene of the accident, he learned that the occupants of the vehicle had been taken to the hospital. R. 31, lines 20 – 25, July 8, 2014. After spending "15 minutes, 20 minutes at the most" at the scene, Gates drove to the hospital.

When he arrived at the hospital, he was directed to the room where Valandrea Bing, one of the persons involved in the accident, was located. While Corporal Gates was in the room with Bing, Appellant walked in. R. 34, lines 18 – 24, July 8, 2014. Gates asked Appellant for his driver's

² This issue will be fully addressed in Issue II, *infra*.

license or identification card. R. 34, lines 24 – 25. Gates claimed that when Appellant handed him his identification card, he “smelled the odor of alcoholic beverage come from [Appellant’s] breath.” R. 37, lines 11 – 13, July 8, 2014. However, Gates acknowledged that Appellant “voluntarily answered” his questions and “wasn’t confrontational.” R. 36, lines 15 – 18, July 8, 2014.

Corporal Gates stated that when he asked Appellant whether he was driving, Appellant said he was not driving. R. 35, lines 10 – 12, July 8, 2014. When Gates asked Bing whether she was driving, she also stated she was not driving. R. 35, lines 10 – 12, July 8, 2014. Corporal Gates asserted that when he gathered Appellant and Bing into the hospital room, Bing admitted to being the driver. However, after medical personnel escorted Bing out of the hospital room, Appellant allegedly admitted that he was the driver. R. 39, lines 2 – 7, July 8, 2014.

Gates stated that because there was a confirmed death in the accident, he smelled alcohol on Appellant’s breath, and Appellant initially told him he was not driving but then admitted to driving, he ordered that blood and urine samples be taken to test for blood alcohol concentration. R. 39, line 20 – R. 40, line 4, July 8, 2014.

On cross-examination, Corporal Gates stated that he placed Appellant under arrest and had ordered that blood and urine samples be taken at **4:20 p.m.** R. 50, lines 3 – 12. However, he admitted that Bing signed a statement at **6:30 p.m.** maintaining that she was the driver. R. 50, lines 13 – 23, July 8, 2014.

Gates told Appellant he was under a “technical” arrest, not a “custodial” arrest. R. 50, line 25 – R. 51, line 1, July 8, 2014. Gates conceded that he did not call a magistrate to obtain a search warrant before ordering Appellant’s blood and urine samples. R. 45, lines 8 – 13, July 8, 2014. Gates also conceded that Appellant told him he was not driving **after** Gates had ordered the blood and urine samples. R. 52, line 19 – R. 53, line 8, July 8, 2014.

Critically, upon further probing by defense counsel, Gates admitted that he **did not know** whether Bing or Appellant was driving when he collected the samples. R. 53, lines 21 – 25, July 8, 2014. According to SLED’s forensic toxicologist, Appellant’s blood alcohol concentration was 0.106 percent. R. 166, lines 11 – 13, July 10, 2014.

Judge’s Ruling on Motion to Suppress

Judge Kinard denied defense counsel’s motion to suppress Appellant’s blood test results but excluded Appellant’s urine test results. The trial judge acknowledged that Corporal Gates “[s]hould have given him some sobriety test or something” and “[e]verybody ought to know how to call up a magistrate.” R. 67, lines 2 – 3; 19 – 20, July 8, 2014. The judge stated that “based on what’s presented, the highway policy was not at an even minimal standard.” R. 67, lines 1 – 2, July 8, 2014.

Judge Kinard allowed Appellant’s blood test results to be admitted into evidence “based on the officer’s experience” and “[w]hat would a reasonable officer have done.” R. 67, lines 11 – 13; R. 68, lines 8 – 12.

Discussion

The trial judge erred by denying defense counsel’s motion to suppress Appellant’s blood analysis results. Corporal Gates had no probable cause to arrest Appellant for felony driving under the influence. Gates had no probable cause Appellant was under the influence of alcohol and no probable cause Appellant was driving the automobile involved in the accident.

The Fourth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution protects “against unreasonable searches and seizures” unless “probable cause” exists. U.S. Const. amend. IV; see also S.C. Const. art. I, § 10. Therefore, the fundamental question in determining whether a defendant’s warrantless arrest was lawful is whether there was “probable cause” to make the arrest. State v. Cuevas, 365 S.C. 198,

203, 616 S.E.2d 718, 721 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing Wortman v. City of Spartanburg, 310 S.C. 1, 4, 425 S.E.2d 18, 20 (1992)).

Probable cause to arrest without a warrant generally exists ‘where the facts and circumstances within the arresting officer’s knowledge are sufficient for a reasonable person to believe that a crime has been or is being committed by the person to be arrested.’ State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 49, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006); State v. Moultrie, 316 S.C. 547, 552, 451 S.E.2d 34, 37 (Ct. App. 1994) (quoting U.S. v. Miller, 925 F.2d 695, 698 (4th Cir. 1991)). In determining whether probable cause to arrest existed, ‘all the evidence within the arresting officer’s knowledge may be considered, including the details observed while responding to information received.’ State v. Manning, 400 S.C. 257, 267, 734 S.E.2d 314, 319 (Ct. App. 2012) (quoting State v. Roper, 274 S.C. 14, 17, 260 S.E.2d 705, 706 (1979)).

Probable cause “turns on . . . whether facts within the officer’s knowledge would lead a reasonable person to believe the individual arrested was guilty of a crime.” Manning, 400 S.C. at 267, 734 S.E.2d at 319. See Lapp v. South Carolina Dept. of Motor Vehicles, 387 S.C. 500, 692 S.E.2d 565 (Ct. App. 2010) (finding the officer had probable cause to arrest defendant where the officer arrived at scene of automobile accident and defendant was sitting in her vehicle, smelled strongly of alcohol, admitted to the officer that she hit two vehicles, and refused to perform a field sobriety test); see also State v. Cuevas, 365 S.C. 198, 616 S.E.2d 718 (Ct. App. 2005) (finding the officer had probable cause to make an arrest where defendant left the scene of the accident, had a strong smell of alcohol on his breath, had an open beer container in his vehicle, and had a bruise on his chest from deployment of the air bag).

A. Corporal Gates had no probable cause Appellant was under the influence of alcohol or drugs.

Here, Corporal Gates met Appellant at the hospital, not at the scene of the accident in his vehicle. Although Gates claimed that he smelled alcohol on Appellant's breath, Gates did not administer any field sobriety tests. As defense counsel argued, Gates did not assert that Appellant had "glassy eyes" or "bloodshot eyes". Gates did not state that Appellant was acting belligerent or incoherent. In fact, Gates acknowledged that Appellant was not confrontational. See Handley v. State, 294 Ga.App. 236, 668 S.E.2d 855 (Ga. Ct. App. 2008) (finding that the officer had no probable cause to arrest defendant for driving under the influence where the only evidence presented was that the officer smelled alcohol on defendant's breath, and the "alco-sensor" test revealed the presence of alcohol).

Because Corporal Gates had **no** probable cause that Appellant was under the influence of alcohol or drugs, he had **no** probable cause to arrest Appellant for felony DUI.

B. Corporal Gates had no probable cause Appellant was the driver.

Although the passenger's death had been confirmed, Appellant denied driving the vehicle. In fact, Valandria Bing had already admitted to driving during the accident and had given a statement. Gates admitted during his pre-trial testimony that he did not know who was driving **at the time** he seized Appellant's blood and urine. See Castaneda v. State, 292 Ga.App. 390, 394, 664 S.E.2d 803, 807 (Ga. Ct. App. 2008) (quoting State v Sledge, 264 Ga.App. 612, 614 (Ga. Ct. App. 2003)) ("To authorize an arrest for DUI, 'an officer need only have knowledge or reasonably trustworthy information that the suspect was actually in physical control of a moving vehicle . . . to a degree which renders him incapable of driving safely.'").

Because there was **no** probable cause Appellant was driving the vehicle during the accident, Corporal Gates had **no** probable cause to arrest him for felony DUI.

II. The trial judge erred by denying defense counsel’s motion to suppress Appellant’s blood analysis results where Corporal Gates was required to obtain a search warrant before taking Appellant’s blood sample, since there were no exigent circumstances to justify the warrantless search and seizure

Relevant Facts

In addition to arguing that there was no probable cause to arrest Appellant for felony DUI, defense counsel argued that there was no exigency which justified the warrantless seizure of Appellant’s blood. Citing Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757 (1966), defense counsel argued that there was no emergency which “would have threatened the destruction of evidence.” R. 14, lines 9 – 11, July 8, 2014. Counsel emphasized that Appellant was “already at the hospital” and “there was no time to be taken to investigate the scene . . . [t]here were troopers already there.” R. 14, lines 16 – 20, July 8, 2014.

Counsel asserted that because the magistrate lived “a mile from the hospital,” and the hospital and the law enforcement center were “four miles apart,” the time delay in getting a warrant would be minutes. R. 15, lines 7 – 10, July 8, 2014. Citing Missouri v. McNeely, 133 S.Ct. 1552, 1563 (2013), counsel explained that the “dissipation of alcohol” is only a consideration in determining whether exigency exists. Since the trooper **could have** gotten a search warrant signed by a magistrate, he **should have** done so. R. 15, lines 11 – 17, July 8, 2014.

Discussion

The trial judge erred by denying defense counsel’s motion to suppress Appellant’s blood alcohol test results. Corporal Gates was required to obtain a search warrant before ordering

Appellant's blood taken, since there were no exigent circumstances to justify the warrantless search and seizure.

“A lawful arrest does not in itself justify a warrantless search which requires bodily intrusion.” Gantt v. State, 354 S.C. 183, 187, 580 S.E.2d 133, 135 (2003). Fourth Amendment protections apply even when a defendant has been arrested. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 54, 625 S.E.2d 216, 223 (2006). “[U]nless there are exigent circumstances such as the imminent destruction of evidence,” intrusions into the human body for the taking evidence requires a warrant. Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757 (1966). However, in determining whether exigent circumstances exist to support a warrantless search, a court must consider all of the facts and circumstances of the particular case before it. See Schmerber, 384 U.S. at 768 – 770 (“[T]he Fourth Amendment’s proper function is to constrain . . . against intrusions which are not justified in the circumstances.”).

In Missouri v. McNeely, 133 S.Ct. 1552, 1563 (2013), the United States Supreme Court held that “while the natural dissipation of alcohol in the blood may support a finding of exigency in a specific case . . . [w]hether a warrantless blood test of a drunk-driving suspect is reasonable must be determined case by case based on the totality of the circumstances.” In McNeely, the defendant was stopped by a Missouri police officer at 2:08 a.m. for speeding and repeatedly crossing the centerline. Id. at 1556. The officer noticed that McNeely had “bloodshot eyes,” “slurred speech,” and “the smell of alcohol on his breath.” Id. In addition, McNeely admitted to drinking ‘a couple of beers’ at a bar and appeared unsteady on his feet. Id.

After performing poorly on field-sobriety tests and refusing to provide a breath sample, McNeely was placed under arrest. Id. at 1557. While the officer transported McNeely to the police station, McNeely “indicated that he would again refuse to provide a breath sample.” Id. The officer then transported McNeely to a nearby hospital to have his blood taken. However, McNeely

refused to consent to have his blood drawn. Id. The officer ordered a hospital lab technician to take a blood sample, which was taken at 2:35 a.m. Id. McNeely's blood alcohol was tested as 0.154 percent, which was above Missouri's legal limit of 0.08 percent. Id.

Applying Schmerber, the Court looked at the totality of the circumstances to determine whether the Missouri officer faced an emergency that justified ordering McNeely's blood to be taken without a warrant. McNeely, 133 S.Ct. at 1559. The Court acknowledged that "an individual's alcohol level gradually declines soon after he stops drinking" and "a significant delay in testing will negatively affect the probative value of the [test] results." Id. at 1561.

However, the Court rejected the State's contention that "whenever an officer has probable cause to believe an individual has been driving under the influence of alcohol, exigent circumstances will necessary exist because BAC evidence is inherently evanescent." Id. at 1560. The Court also rejected the State's argument that "so long as the officer has probable cause and the blood test is conducted in a reasonable manner, it is categorically reasonable for law enforcement to obtain the blood sample without a warrant." Id.

Specifically, the Court noted

"We have recognized a limited class of traditional exceptions to the warrant requirement that apply categorically and thus do not require an assessment of whether the policy justifications underlying the exception, which may include exigency-based considerations, are implicated in a particular case. By contrast, the general exigency exception, which asks whether an emergency existed that justified a warrantless search, naturally calls for a case-specific inquiry." (citations omitted)

Id. at 1560.

The Court further explained

"[T]he general importance of the government's interest in [combating drunk driving] does not justify departing from the warrant requirement without showing exigent circumstances that make securing a warrant impractical in a particular case."

Id. at 1565 – 66.

The Court declined to adopt a “bright-line rule” and, after applying Schmerber, held that “in drunk-driving investigations, the natural dissipation of alcohol in the blood stream does not constitute an exigency in every case sufficient to justify conducting a blood test without a warrant.” Id. at 1568. Where police officers “can reasonably obtain a warrant before a blood sample can be drawn without significantly undermining the efficacy of the search, the Fourth Amendment mandates that they do so.” Id. at 1561.

It is readily apparent from McNeely that the warrant requirement, where no exigent circumstances were present, applied in this case. Again, there existed no such exigency to justify the warrantless seizure of Appellant’s blood and urine. Appellant did not consent to have his blood drawn by Corporal Gates. The fact that Appellant was already at the hospital when Gates met him eliminated any need to have Appellant transported to a hospital for testing.

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