ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ALLENDALE COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

J. Ernest Kinard, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-001550

RECEIVED

OCT 13 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

MCKENZIE L. DAVIS,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHRISTINA CATOE BIGELOW
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 73562

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1880
Bluffton, South Carolina 29910
(843) 255-5880

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

ARGUMENT

Background Facts

In the late morning hours of November 1, 2008, Appellant picked up his niece, Valandria, age eighteen, his nephew, Demarcus, age twelve, and another female relative, Ciara (who went by the name “Sha”), age eighteen. (R. p. 255-58). Valandria was going to help Appellant clean his house. (R. p. 257 lines 1-3). Appellant, who was driving, stopped along the way and bought beer at a gas station. (R. p. 260-61). After making a couple of other stops, Appellant started speeding. (R. p. 263-64). On Oswald Road, Valandria asked Appellant to slow down because she was scared, but Appellant refused. (R. p. 264). At that point, Valandria crouched down in the floorboard area because she was so frightened. (R. p. 265). Shortly thereafter, Appellant lost control of the vehicle, went off the road, and crashed into some trees. (R. p. 265-66; p. 97). The next thing Valandria remembered was lying on the ground. (R. p. 266). Demarcus, who had been sitting behind Appellant in the driver’s seat, blacked out after the crash but recalled waking up with Sha beside him and recalled the “fire people” removing him from the vehicle. (R. p. 317-18). Tragically, Sha died almost immediately upon impact. (R. p. 88, lines 2-7; p. 249, lines 22-24; p. 332).

Joey Oswald, who lived nearby and was working outside in his father’s shed, heard the crash and drove over to check on the occupants. (R. p. 247-48). When he arrived, three passengers were in the wrecked vehicle, and the driver, Appellant, was out “kind of walking around.” (R. p. 249). Appellant was mumbling to himself and using profanity. (R. p. 250). Mr. Oswald discovered that the female passenger in the backseat

was deceased, but he stayed with the other passengers until emergency services arrived. (R. p. 249-51). His son called 911. (R. p. 250).

Fire Chief Rodney Stanley was dispatched to the scene first around 2:30 pm. (R. p. 42, line 2-16; p. 86). When he arrived, he saw an SUV against a tree about fifteen feet off the road that had obviously been in a “very severe accident.” (R. p. 87; p. 91). He then encountered Appellant and a young lady standing in front of the vehicle. (R. p. 87). The young lady was covered in glass and kept telling Appellant that she had asked him to slow down. (R. p. 88). Notably, the front passenger window was “busted out” since the glass had shattered upon impact. (R. p. 89). Chief Stanley noticed a slight odor of alcohol on Appellant. (R. p. 90-91). Chief Stanley soon discovered that the female passenger in the back was deceased. (R. p. 88).

Corporal Denard Gates of the South Carolina Highway Patrol arrived a little later in the afternoon. (R. p. 94-96). He observed the body of a deceased female in the back seat of the SUV. (R. p. 97). He noted there was not a posted speed limit because it was a rural road, and consequently, the speed limit was 55 miles per hour. (R. p. 98). Corporal Gates remained at the scene for about fifteen or twenty minutes but then proceeded to the hospital to check on the occupants of the SUV. (R. p. 107-108). At the time he left the scene, Corporal Gates did not know who had been driving the SUV at the time of the crash. (R. p. 108):

After arriving at the hospital, Corporal Gates first talked with Demarcus because the hospital was preparing to have him flown to another hospital. (R. p. 109; p. 111). Demarcus was lying in a hospital bed with lots of blankets covering him. (R. p. 109-110). Demarcus indicated that at the time of the crash, he had been sitting behind the

driver's seat.¹ (R. p. 110). As Corporal Gates left Demarcus's room and headed to Valandria's room, he noticed a man following him. (R. p. 111). Corporal Gates had no idea who this man was initially but noticed the man was walking with a limp. (R. p. 111, lines 6-11). Corporal Gates then spoke with Valandria, who was lying in a hospital bed, and Valandria explained that she had been the front-seat passenger at the time of the crash. (R. p. 112). Thereafter, Corporal Gates spoke with the man who followed him into Valandria's room and identified him as Appellant. (R. p. 112-113). Appellant indicated he was involved in the collision also, but at that point he denied being the driver of the vehicle. (R. p. 112). Once Corporal Gates began talking with Appellant, he immediately smelled the odor of alcoholic beverage coming from his breath. (R. p. 114-15). He also noticed Appellant's eyes were red and glassy. (R. p. 115, lines 9-19). Corporal Gates asked Appellant if he had consumed any alcoholic beverages and Appellant claimed he had consumed two beers. (R. p. 115, lines 5-6). Based upon his training and experience, Corporal Gates believed Appellant was under the influence of alcohol.² (R. p. 115, lines 20-23).

When Appellant denied being the driver, Corporal Gates realized that someone was not telling the truth about being the driver. (R. p. 118). He "got both of them together" where they were all sitting in the same room and explained "in a very stern way" that one of the occupants was deceased and that this was a serious matter. (R. p. 121, lines 21-25). Corporal Gates told them there was no way both of them could be the

¹ Demarcus gave a statement to law enforcement two days after the crash while he was a patient at the children's hospital in Richland County. (R. p. 137-38). In this statement, Demarcus told police what happened in the time leading up to the collision and reported that Appellant had been driving the vehicle. (R. p. 318-20). Demarcus confirmed at trial that Appellant was the driver. (R. p. 314).

² Corporal Gates had been employed with the South Carolina Highway Patrol for sixteen years, had received training in collision investigation and DUI detection, and, at the time of the collision, had worked about one hundred cases involving alcohol and driving. (R. p. 94-96).

front seat passenger. (R. p. 122). It “got very emotional,” and Valandria then told Corporal Gates that she had been the driver. (R. p. 122, lines 7-9). Shortly thereafter, Valandria was taken out of the room by medical personnel. (R. p. 123). As soon as she was gone, Appellant confessed that he had, in fact, been the driver at the time of the crash. (R. p. 123, lines 19-24). At that point, Corporal Gates “started preparing to treat this case as a felony DUI” since he knew there was a death and/or great bodily injury that resulted from the crash and since he believed Appellant’s alcohol impairment caused the crash. (R. p. 124-25; p. 135, lines 12-18). He was concerned about the dissipation of alcohol in Appellant’s bloodstream. (R. p. 57, lines 12-19). He testified that at that time, he believed Appellant was the driver based upon his observations and based upon the statement Appellant had provided. (R. p. 135, lines 15-18).

Corporal Gates obtained the appropriate paperwork, spoke with medical personnel about taking samples, and read Appellant his Miranda rights. (R. p. 125, lines 2-6). Corporal Gates explained that he did not perform field sobriety tests with Appellant because they were at the hospital, not at the scene, and because Appellant apparently had an injury to one or both of his legs. (R. p. 125, lines 17-25). He stated that he “couldn’t give him a sobriety test on the side of the road,” and that it would not have been a fair test anyway since Appellant was injured. (R. p. 126, lines 3-7). Corporal Gates read Appellant his “implied consent for felony DUI” and filled out a “Blood and Urine Collection Report,” and samples were thereafter taken from Appellant by medical personnel at approximately 4:40 pm. (R. p. 128, lines 2-15; p. 150-51; p. 284-86; p. 520). The results revealed that Appellant’s blood alcohol level, at the time the sample was given, was .106, which could have caused euphoria, sedation, and affected Appellant’s

ability to “do things” as he normally does. (R. p. 406-409; p. 416-17). The forensic toxicologist testified that it would not be possible to achieve a .106 blood alcohol level by drinking only two beers. (R. p. 416, lines 9-13).

After Appellant’s blood sample was taken, Appellant had a conversation with two gentlemen who had been sitting in the visitor’s area. (R. p. 132). Following this conversation, these two gentlemen motioned for Corporal Gates to come over to them. (R. p. 132, lines 9-12). The two men told Corporal Gates that Appellant had something to say. (R. p. 132, lines 12-15). At that point Appellant told Corporal Gates that he had not been the driver at the time of the collision. (R. p. 133-34). Later, Corporal Gates once again gathered Appellant and Valandria in the same room together and they both wrote out statements. (R. p. 134). Appellant’s written statement claimed Valandria was driving at the time of the crash. (R. p. 133-34). Valandria’s statement indicated that Appellant had been showing her how to drive on Oswald Road and that she lost control of the vehicle and flew out the window. (R. p. 273-74).

At trial, Valandria testified that two days after she provided this written statement, she reported to Corporal Gates that she was not telling the truth when she told him she was the driver. (R. p. 269-71). Valandria explained that Appellant asked her to lie and say she was the driver because his driver’s license was suspended. (R. p. 269-71). Although she had been trying to help Appellant by covering for him, after she learned that Sha had died in the wreck, she felt she had to do the right thing and tell the truth to the police. (R. p. 268-81). She stated it was selfish of Appellant to ask her to lie for him. (R. p. 281, lines 15-22).

After Appellant recanted his previous statement that he was the driver of the vehicle at the time of the collision, and after Valandria gave her written statement that she was the driver, law enforcement decided to “let the evidence show who would be the driver.” (R. p. 134-35). Therefore, law enforcement did not take Appellant into custody that day but instead waited until additional evidence was obtained. (R. p. 136).

Members of the Multi-Disciplinary Accident Investigation Team (“MAIT”) subsequently investigated the crash. According to one of the MAIT collision reconstruction experts, the SUV was traveling at 107 miles per hour in the five seconds before the crash. (R. p. 289-94). The investigation of the scene revealed that the driver ran off the right shoulder of the road, overcorrected, crossed the center line, and then lost control and struck two trees. (R. p. 219-20). As a part of their investigation, MAIT officers removed the driver’s side airbag and sent it to SLED for DNA testing. (R. p. 190-92). Buccal swabs were obtained from Appellant by consent for comparison purposes. (R. p. 198; p. 210). DNA found on the airbag matched Appellant’s DNA, with a 1 in 110 quadrillion chance the DNA on the airbag came from an unrelated person. (R. p. 425-26). Notably, the MAIT experts explained that, once deployed, airbags cannot be re-used and that this particular airbag had never been deployed prior to the collision in question. (R. p. 228-29; p. 296).

- I. The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion to suppress the blood alcohol results since the officer had probable cause to arrest Appellant for felony driving under the influence where Appellant admitted he was the driver of the vehicle involved in the collision; where Appellant admitted he had consumed alcoholic beverages; and where the officer believed, based upon his observations of Appellant coupled with his extensive training and experience, that Appellant was under the influence of alcohol.**

Appellant argues that the trial judge should have suppressed his blood analysis results because Corporal Gates had no probable cause to believe Appellant was under the influence of alcohol or that he was the driver of the vehicle at the time of the collision. Assuming these arguments are preserved for appellate review,³ they are without merit.

Applicable Law

Probable cause exists when the circumstances within the arresting officer's knowledge are sufficient for a reasonable person to believe a crime has been committed. State v. Cuevas, 365 S.C. 198, 203, 616 S.E.2d 718, 721 (Ct. App. 2005). "In determining whether probable cause exists, 'all the evidence within the arresting officer's knowledge may be considered, including the details observed while responding to information received.'" Id. at 204, 616 S.E.2d at 721 (citing State v. Roper, 274 S.C. 14, 17, 260 S.E.2d 705, 706 (1979)). "Whether probable cause exists depends upon the totality of the circumstances surrounding the information at the officer's disposal." State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 49, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). "Probable cause turns not on the

³ Arguably, Appellant's contention that the blood test results should have been suppressed is not preserved for review because, although Appellant purported to renew his pretrial objections at other points in trial, he failed to object at the critical time: when the forensic toxicologist testified about the actual blood test results. (See R. p. 407, lines 11-15; see also p. 125, lines 7-12; p. 282-89; p. 415, line 24 – p. 416, line 7). See State v. King, 334 S.C. 504, 509-10, 514 S.E.2d 578, 581 (1999) (a contemporaneous objection is required to preserve an issue for appellate review); State v. King, 349 S.C. 142, 149-50, 561 S.E.2d 640, 643-44 (Ct. App. 2002) (finding an issue not preserved where the defendant failed to renew his pretrial motion at the time the evidence was offered for admission during trial and evidence was presented in between the pretrial hearing and the admission of the challenged evidence); see also State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993) (any error in admission of evidence which is cumulative to other unobjected-to evidence is harmless).

individual's actual guilt or innocence, but on whether facts within the officer's knowledge would lead a reasonable person to believe the individual arrested was guilty of a crime." Jackson v. City of Abbeville, 366 S.C. 662, 666, 623 S.E.2d 656, 658 (Ct. App. 2005). "The term 'probable cause' does not import absolute certainty." State v. Arnold, 319 S.C. 256, 260, 460 S.E.2d 403, 405 (Ct. App. 1995). Rather, "[p]robable cause may be found somewhere between suspicion and sufficient evidence to convict." State v. Blassingame, 338 S.C. 240, 250, 525 S.E.2d 535, 540 (Ct. App. 1999) (citation omitted); see also Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 235 (1983) (holding that probable cause necessarily means less evidence than would be required to convict; only a probability of criminal activity is required, not a prima facie showing).

The appellate court reviews the circuit court's probable cause determination under a "clear error" standard. Baccus, 367 S.C. at 48-49, 625 S.E.2d at 220. A trial court's finding regarding probable cause is conclusive on appeal where supported by evidence. State v. Jones, 268 S.C. 227, 233, 233 S.E.2d 287, 289 (1977); see also State v. Barrs, 257 S.C. 193, 198, 184 S.E.2d 708, 710 (1971) (holding because there was evidence to support the circuit court's finding that officer had probable cause to make an arrest, it was conclusive on appeal).

Discussion

Here, contrary to Appellant's arguments, Corporal Gates did have probable cause to seek Appellant's blood samples under the felony DUI statute. See S.C. Code § 56-5-2946 ("Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a person must submit to either one or a combination of chemical tests of his breath, blood, or urine for the purpose of determining the presence of alcohol, drugs, or a combination of alcohol and drugs *if there*

is probable cause to believe that the person violated or is under arrest for a violation of Section 56-5-2945.") (emphasis added). Corporal Gates visited the scene of the accident and learned that there was a single-car collision with no apparent cause, that one person had died as a result of the collision, and that other occupants of the vehicle had been injured and transported to the hospital. Corporal Gates encountered Appellant, who was limping, at the hospital and discovered he was involved in the collision. Corporal Gates smelled alcohol on Appellant's breath and noted he had red and glassy eyes. (R. p. p. 115, lines 9-19). Appellant admitted to Corporal Gates that he had consumed alcohol (although he claimed he only had "two beers"). It was Corporal Gates's opinion, based upon his extensive training and experience, that Appellant was under the influence of alcohol. Furthermore, when Corporal Gates initially spoke with Valandria, she reported without hesitation that she was the front-seat passenger in the vehicle at the time of the crash. Although Valandria subsequently told Corporal Gates she was the driver, immediately after she left the room, Appellant confessed to being the driver. At the time Corporal Gates requested the blood samples, he believed Appellant's confession and believed Appellant was the driver.

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